

Graduate Faculty Membership

	Policy Number
2160	
	Date Created/Revised
<u>4/22/2019</u>	
	Executive Responsibility
Faculty Senate Dean of Graduate School	

Deleted: 11/01/2018

2160.1 Purpose

The Graduate Faculty, the body primarily responsible for graduate study, is composed of faculty members whose experience and record of scholarship qualify them to offer graduate-level instruction. The Graduate Faculty's purpose is to encourage and contribute to the advancement of knowledge and/or professional practice through instruction, supervision, and research of the highest quality. Eligibility criteria for Graduate Faculty status emphasize the totality of a Graduate Faculty member's instructional, advising, and professional responsibilities as well as explicit scholarship criteria.

2160.2 Definitions of Graduate Faculty Membership Categories

Graduate faculty status may be granted in one of four possible categories:

Regular Graduate Faculty: This status is granted to fully affiliated, tenure track and/or tenured faculty who have a permanent affiliation with Wright State University and who have the privilege to participate fully in the conduct, content, and governance of graduate programs. This status is granted and reviewed by the Graduate Faculty Membership Committee of the Faculty Senate according to this policy.

Associate Graduate Faculty: This status is granted to highly qualified persons who participate in graduate education by teaching and/or serving on committees, but who will not otherwise exercise the prerogatives of regular graduate faculty. This status is granted and reviewed by the Graduate Faculty Membership Committee of the Faculty Senate according to this policy. Associate Graduate Faculty may be approved for one or more of the following privileges: to teach any graduate courses in discipline, teach only specific graduate courses, or serve on or co-chair, with regular graduate faculty members, thesis and doctoral committees. A record of the specific privileges granted an Associate Graduate Faculty member will be kept on record with the Graduate School and published at [URL].

Provisional Graduate Faculty: This is a temporary status to be used when a new fully affiliated faculty member joins the university and needs to act as a graduate faculty member while the processes of granting Regular Graduate Faculty status are under way, or while a provision of hire (e.g., defending an already completed dissertation, etc.) is being completed. It is expected that persons in this status will ultimately be eligible for Regular Faculty Status after no more than three semesters.

Temporary Graduate Faculty: This is a temporary status to be used when a unit needs to fill an immediate and unanticipated need for teaching in a graduate program and there is not sufficient time for the nomination to pass through the senate's formal approval process. Temporary Graduate Faculty may be approved only to teach specific courses, teach courses in a discipline, or serve (but

Commented [JG1]: This section is new text, but it is NOT new content. It simply moves category definitions to another spot. I think this may be a good idea because many readers seems to have gotten wrapped around the axle with the "implicit" definitions used under old language. This brings the basic concepts up front to provide context for the more detailed definitions later.

Deleted: pi/2

not chair) degree committees. It would be expected that persons in this status would be found eligible for and granted Associate Faculty Status within three semesters of appointment to temporary status.

2160.3 Eligibility Criteria and Terms of Membership

In order to be appointed to the Regular Graduate Faculty, a candidate must have all of (a) (b) (c), and (d) below:

- (a) an appropriate terminal degree for graduate instruction in the field
- (b) a demonstrated involvement in graduate instruction through teaching and, where applicable, graduate student supervision
- (c) a current (within the past seven years) and relevant record of scholarly or creative accomplishment through metrics such as research, publications, professional activities, and/or creative work (as appropriate to the field). Approved criteria documents will be maintained by the Graduate School and made available for public inspection at all times via standard Internet (web) interfaces. The Graduate Faculty Membership Committee will use faculty-approved, discipline-specific, criteria in all cases where they exist. The Graduate Faculty Membership Committee will use HLC criteria in cases where a program has not yet filed an approved criteria document.
- (d) rank of assistant professor or above in a degree-granting academic unit at Wright State University.

Regular Graduate Faculty status is granted for a period of seven years from the date of latest demonstrated satisfaction of all of the above criteria. [Individual programs may specify a shorter period of regular graduate faculty status via the criteria mechanism defined in \(c\) above.](#)

If a person may not, or chooses not to, be appointed to the Regular Graduate Faculty, that person may be granted Associate Graduate Faculty Status. In order to be appointed to the Associate Graduate Faculty, a candidate must:

- (1) satisfy criteria (a), (b), and (c) in the first paragraph of this section (2160.2)
- OR
- (2) satisfy criteria specific to the relevant discipline or course(s) as previously approved by the Graduate Faculty Membership Committee. Approved criteria documents will be maintained by the Graduate School and made available for public inspection at all times via standard Internet (web) interfaces. The Graduate Faculty Membership committee will use faculty-approved, discipline-specific, criteria in all cases where they exist. The Graduate Faculty membership committee will use HLC criteria in cases where a program has not yet filed an approved criteria document.

Associate Graduate Faculty status is granted for a period of seven years from the date of latest demonstrated satisfaction of the relevant criteria. [Individual programs may specify a shorter period of regular graduate faculty status via the criteria mechanism defined in \(c\) above.](#)

Commented [JG2]: This is actually IN the current 2160. It was removed from this version in error. However, there are faculty who wish it removed in reality. In an abundance of caution, I recommend we put this back in and treat this issue, if desired, in a separate action in the next senate.

Commented [YM3]: This is critical and needed to stay IN. Think of the topic example given at the meeting from our doctoral program – such as “military child.” We needed an expert to serve on the committee from the base who had extensive experience and knowledge about it. Was the faculty who wanted to remove this part (a) representing a doctoral program & witnessed abuse of such privilege, and (b) representing faculty opinions of that college, or speaking on behalf of her/himself?

Deleted: 2

Commented [JG4]: I switched from “the” to “an” because there are fields where there is indeed more than one degree that would appropriate. For example, in my field, degrees in computer science, computer engineering, electrical engineering, or mathematics would and could ALL be appropriate. In fields like Biomedical Engineering, degrees in Biomedical, Electrical, Mechanical, and other more “traditional” fields are all likewise appropriate. The policy should give the programs the latitude to make this determination and not presuppose that there is “one true degree”

Commented [JG5]: This was stated in the previous version, but is put here for more emphasis. The salient observation is that the grad membership committee will use HLC criteria OR PROGRAM DEFINED criteria when it comes to defining professional practice guidelines. This fixes the problem of practice oriented programs from having improper criteria applied because they can put criteria rules through for us

Commented [JG6]: This changed from five to seven to reflect faculty desires for a longer period prior to re-evaluation. HLC requires periodic re-evaluation. Currently, the longest stated period in Ohio is seven years. We are proposing the same.

Commented [JG7]: This was amended to make it clear that programs could choose to make their grants of status shorter to be able to document that they were following accreditation criteria that may, for some programs, encourage or require a shorter cycle. Since such persons would lose their status at the end of the shorter period (if ...

Commented [JG8]: Note that this “imports” in whatever program specific criteria that were approved for “regular” status. If someone hits all qualifications for regual except for not being a WSU person, they’re in in this category with little difficulty.

Commented [JG9]: Here is a second hook for programs to hang program specific practice criteria. This could be used if a program wishes to have alternative criteria for associate grad members. Note that they already “inherit” any criteria from c) above.

If a program has an immediate and unexpected need for graduate instruction, the program may request that a candidate be appointed to Temporary Graduate Faculty Status. In order to be granted Temporary Graduate Faculty Status, the nominator must complete all of (1), (2), and (3) below:

- 1) Provide an offer letter that clearly states exactly the privileges to be extended (e.g. course or courses at or above the 5xxx level the candidate will teach, participation in a thesis or dissertation committee, etc.)
- 2) Provide justification that the person would be reasonably expected to satisfy the requirements of Associate Graduate Faculty status as defined by these policies and by any relevant program-specific criteria documents approved by the Graduate Faculty Membership Committee.
- 3) Provide a mentorship plan to support the newly appointed temporary graduate faculty member in those cases where the candidate has no prior experience instructing at the graduate level.

Temporary Graduate Faculty status is granted for a period of up to three semesters (non-renewable) by approval of the Dean of the Graduate School. Individuals who have served or are serving as temporary Graduate Faculty may be nominated for Associate Graduate Faculty status and it is expected they would be fully eligible for such nomination.

Newly hired assistant, associate, or full professors may be granted Provisional Graduate Faculty Status if it is expected that the candidate will fully satisfy the requirements of Regular Graduate Faculty Status after the expiration of an amount of time sufficient to satisfy any provisional conditions of hire (e.g., final defense of an already completed dissertation or any other provisions that may have been negotiated) OR if graduate status is required before completion of the full vetting process. Provisional Graduate Faculty Status may be granted for up to three academic semesters, but in no case more than the number of semesters it would take for the appropriate faculty senate committees to meet and fully consider the case for regular membership.

2160.4 Functions and Privileges of the Graduate Faculty

Regular Graduate Faculty members may perform all of the following roles:

- (a) teach graduate courses (i.e., at or above the 5000-level) in the discipline(s) for which they qualify,
- (b) serve as members of thesis or dissertation committees
- (c) serve as members of Faculty Senate Graduate Committees
- (d) serve as chairs of Faculty Senate Graduate committees
- (e) supervise master's theses or doctoral dissertations,

Commented [JG10]: Added to clarify that all of the three items must be in the letter.

Deleted: x

Commented [JG11]: Term increased from one semester by faculty friendly amendment. The idea is to give time for a full faculty senate approval process to run. Two academic semesters and a summer should cover any request.

Deleted: 3

Commented [YM12]: Clarify that regular faculty may chair master's theses or doctoral dissertation – language parallel to the language with associate faculty. This is important because of the distinction from “supervise graduate students” as described in 2160.5.H.

Associate Graduate Faculty members may be approved for one or more of the following roles:

- (a) teach a specifically approved [collection of graduate courses which could range from a single course to all courses in a discipline](#) (i.e., at or above the 5000-level)
- (b) serve as members of thesis or dissertation committees
- (c) serve as co-directors/co-supervisors of theses or dissertations in conjunction with a member of the regular Graduate Faculty. Associate Graduate Faculty may not serve as sole or primary directors of theses or dissertations.

The specific roles for which an Associate Graduate Faculty member may be approved shall be recorded in the Graduate School, and the assignment of those roles shall be governed by this policy and any applicable program-specific standards approved under the terms of this policy.

Temporary Graduate Faculty members may teach specific graduate courses for which they have been approved. They may serve on graduate thesis or dissertation committees as governed by this policy and any program specific criteria developed under this policy.

Provisional Graduate Faculty possess all privileges of regular graduate faculty except the privilege to serve as sole chair of thesis or dissertation committees. Provisional graduate faculty may co-chair such committees with a member of the regular graduate faculty and may become the sole chair at such time as the member's status is upgraded to Regular Graduate Faculty.

2160.5 Procedure for Nomination to Graduate Faculty Membership

Regular Graduate Faculty and Associate Graduate Faculty Membership

A. [The appropriate department chair, program director, or Department or Program Faculty Committee completes the Graduate Faculty Nomination form with supporting documentation \[link to URL with form and explanation/directions\]. The packet is provided to the appropriate regular graduate faculty subject matter experts, as defined by the appropriate faculty governance body of the department or academic unit hosting the graduate program in which the candidate will work. This body will review the nomination packet and provide a recommendation based either upon criteria \(a\) through \(c\) or upon criteria as approved by the Graduate Faculty Membership Committee under the terms of this policy. In all cases, but especially in cases based upon tested experience criteria, the faculty subject matter experts must demonstrate that the candidate meets relevant criteria.](#)

B. The appropriate department chair, program director, or Department or Program Faculty Committee completes the Graduate Faculty Nomination form with supporting documentation and recommendations generated via item (A) immediately above, and forwards the packet to the college/school dean and the Dean of the Graduate School.

Deleted: to

Commented [JG13]:

Commented [JG14R13]:

Deleted: |

Deleted: 4

Moved (insertion) [1]

Deleted: The

Deleted: ,

Deleted: the graduate school with

Commented [JG15]: Kathy English pointed out that the now deleted words "tested experience" remained here from a previous version and they needed to be deleted so that the policy remained internally consistent we agreed upon in 2160.3, which includes, but is more broadly stated than it was stated here.

Deleted: tested experience

Deleted: and published at [URL].

Commented [JG16]: Some things from the old B were moved into A to make the chain of document movements more clear. The intent is:

- a) Appropriate person chooses to nominate and collects documentation
- b) Local program committee reviews and makes recommendation
- c) Nominator moves documentation and local program committee recommendation to both the dean of the college hosting the program (for information) and to the dean of graduate studies (next link in the processing chain).

I think this was always the intent, but the previous language was turgid (my fault)

Formatted: Font: (Default) Calibri, 12 pt

Formatted: No bullets or numbering

Deleted: [link to URL with form and explanation/directions]

Deleted: .

C. The Dean of the Graduate School reviews the nomination. If the dean concurs with the subject matter committee's recommendation for regular or associate membership, the dean shall approve the nomination and record the candidate in the list of graduate faculty. If the dean does not readily concur with the subject matter committee's recommendation, the dean may either a) request additional information from the subject matter committee, or b) forward the packet to the Graduate Faculty Membership committee for further adjudication. The Graduate Faculty Membership committee will make a recommendation regarding the candidate's status. If any party to the process disagrees with the final decision, that party may present a rebuttal and request for reconsideration to the Faculty Senate via the standard mechanisms for introducing senate business as defined by the Faculty Constitution.

D. Nominations that do not meet the primary criteria (as specified in 2160.3) are forwarded, along with all necessary explanatory and supporting material, to the Graduate Faculty Membership Committee, which sends approved nominations to the Dean of the Graduate School for concurring signature and recording in the list of Graduate Faculty, and reports approved nominations to the Faculty Senate. In cases of disagreement between the Dean of the Graduate School and the Graduate Faculty Membership Committee, the Faculty Senate will serve as the final arbiter (see item C above). If a nomination is ultimately declined, the Graduate School will send a letter of explanation to the nominator.

E. The Graduate School will send written notification of the action taken by the Committee or the Dean to the faculty member concerned. A copy of the notification will also be sent to the department chair and the dean who submitted the request.

F. All documents pertaining to the nomination are kept on file in the Graduate School.

G. At the request of the Dean of the Graduate School, a Graduate Faculty member may be required to submit a current curriculum vita or other updated information, subsequent to his/her admission to the Graduate Faculty.

H. The Dean of the Graduate School may grant Provisional Graduate Faculty status to newly hired professorial faculty for up to three academic terms, provided they satisfy all relevant criteria but (a) final completion of the relevant terminal degree, and/or (b) previous experience teaching and/or supervising graduate students. This Provisional status permits newly hired professorial faculty to teach appropriate graduate courses and to serve on (but not to direct) thesis or dissertation committees. Provisional status automatically expires at the end of the period for which it was granted. Departments wishing to nominate faculty for continuing regular Graduate Faculty membership should submit those nominations during the term of provisional membership.

Moved up [1]: <#>The appropriate regular graduate faculty subject matter experts, as defined by the appropriate faculty governance body of the department or academic unit hosting the graduate program in which the candidate will work, will review the nomination packet and provide the graduate school with a recommendation based either upon criteria (a) through (c) or upon tested experience criteria as approved by the Graduate Faculty Membership Committee and published at [URL]. In all cases, but especially in cases based upon tested experience criteria, the faculty subject matter experts must demonstrate that the candidate meets relevant criteria.¶

Formatted: Space After: 6 pt

Commented [JG17]: This language was put in so that there is an explicit means of appeal of determinations that any party to the process feels was not decided correctly. Such an appeal process is, in my humble opinion, implicit in all senate business... as any senator may bring an issue to the floor. This language spells that out a bit more explicitly to make it clear that the faculty as a whole ultimately determine who is a member of the graduate faculty. Thus, the faculty as a whole seems a reasonable court of final appeal if one would desire such.

Deleted: 2

Deleted: temporary